
 

 

WARREN ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
REGULAR MEETING 

April 22, 2015 
 

A Regular Meeting of the Warren Zoning Board of Appeals was called on Wednesday, 
April 22, 2015 at 7:30 p.m. in the Warren Community Center Conference Room A, 5460 
Arden Avenue, Warren, Michigan 48092. 

Members of the Board present: 
Judy Furgal, Vice-Chairwoman 
Roman Nestorowicz, Secretary 
Jennifer Vigus, Ass. Secretary 
Jean Becher 
Jules Descamps 
Henry Brasza 
Sherry Brasza 
Ann Pauta 
 

Members of the Board absent: 
 
Steve Watripont, Chairman 
 
Also present: 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal called the meeting to order at 7:35 p.m.  
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 

Motion: 
Secretary Nestorowicz made the motion to excuse Chairman Watripont since he 
had e-mailed him that it was due to a conflict.   
 
Board Member Descamps supported the motion. 
 

Voice Vote: 

A voice vote was taken on the motion. The motion carried (8-0). 
 
Due to Chairman Watripont’s absence, Vice-Chairwoman Furgal is the acting 
Chairwoman for tonight’s meeting. 
 
 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 2 

 

 
 

4. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Motion: 
Board Member Vigus made the motion to approve the agenda and Board Mem-
ber S. Brasza supported the motion. 
 
Voice Vote: 
A voice vote was taken on the motion. The motion carried (8-0) 
 

5. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF the Regular Meeting of April 8, 2015 

Board Member Becher stated she read the minutes and also noticed that the meet-
ing was adjourned at 8:52pm and it was signed by Roman Nestorowicz, Secretary of 
the Board, he was not there and she did his job for him, so she thinks the minutes 
should reflect that.  That was the only correction that she has. 

 
Motion: 
Board Member Descamps made the motion to approve the minutes of April 8, 
2015 as amended.  Board Member H. Brasza supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Descamps 
and Support by Board Member H. Brasza to approve the minutes of the Regular 
meeting of April 8 as amended. 
 
Secretary Nestorowicz asked Vice-Chairwoman that he would like to excuse him-
self from that vote, since he was not in attendance at that meeting. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated that was correct and Board Member Pauta as well. 
 
Board Member Vigus stated her as well. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated and Board Member Vigus as well yes; she be-
lieves that was all. 
 
Voice Vote:  
A voice vote was taken on the motion. The motion carried (5-0). 
 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT: Mr. Daniel K. Flanigan 
REPRESENTATIVE:   Same as above 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  2529 Thirteen Mile Road 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-06-377-015 
ZONE:     R-1-A 
 
VARIANCES REQUESTED: Permission to 
To construct a second garage (24’x26’ = 624 sq. ft) with an existing attached garage 
(22.7’x 24’ = 544.8 sq. ft.) for a total of 1168.8 sq. ft. of accessory buildings.  



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 3 

 

ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 4.20 Paragraph(a,5):  All accessory structures, excluding garages, will not 
exceed a total of one hundred twenty (120) square feet area. 
Section 5.01Praragraph(i): …All garages and/or accessory building shall not con-
tain more than seven hundred (700) square feet of floor area.  Only one (1) private 
garage for each residential lot is allowed. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Dan Flanigan, 2529 E. Thirteen Mile Road, appeared before the Board introducing 
his wife Janet and stating he is a 50-year resident of the City of Warren, his wife Ja-
net is a 23-year resident of the City and this is the third house that they have owned 
in the City of Warren.  He thanked the Board for entertaining their appeal this even-
ing.  His wife and he petitioned the Board back in 2003 to build this detached gar-
age.  At that time, they requested a 28’ x 24’ and they were denied.  The primary 
reason given on that evening was due to him operating a business out of their home.  
Subsequently, they were requested to remove the business from the home, which 
they complied promptly.  They leased an office space in Sterling Heights from 2003 
to 2008 to comply with zoning ordinance number 30, Section 5.02.  At the end of 
2008, they were able to purchase a commercial property in the City of Warren; the 
address of that property is 23233 Schoenherr.  They are compliant on their taxes, 
the building they are in is a Condo Association, and they are compliant on their as-
sociation dues as well.  They would like to add that their business employs three (3) 
full-time employees and three (3) part-time employees that all reside in the City of 
Warren.  The reason for them revisiting this petition this evening is due to their re-
moval of a dilapidated shed.  They took down their shed that was in disrepair in May 
of 2014; he does have a picture of that shed if the Board wishes to see it.  They 
were surprised on how much they needed for storage.  They have a very large lot; 
their lot size is 100’ x 300’, so they have a riding mower for the backyard and a walk 
behind mower for the front yard.  They needed the storage for their lawn equipment, 
snow removal equipment, patio furniture, etc.  They hope the Board approves their 
request considering the circumstances; with the Board’s approval they will be able to 
further improve their property for the benefit of their neighbors and the City.  They 
thank the Board for their time and consideration and if the Board has any questions 
for them, they would be more than happy to answer those. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Furgal thanked Mr. Flanigan and stated that this was a public 
hearing and anyone in the audience wishing to speak on this matter, to approach the 
podium.  Hearing and seeing none, she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated the question he would have for the petitioner, is 
what is his current business?  
 
Dan Flanigan stated it is a window cleaning business. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay and their petition for the garage; they would 
not use it to store any of the business equipment. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 4 

 

 
Dan Flanigan stated not at all.  The property that they have, the Schoenherr address 
that he mentioned earlier is just less than 1700 sq. ft.  They keep the work vehicles 
there; he has all sorts of ladders, extensions ladders, his window cleaning ladders 
are called stack ladders, he has step ladders, all of his equipment is at the office 
building; they are not planning on bringing anything home and in fact it had worked 
out beautifully when they were forced to get an office building in Sterling Heights, 
because they were able to move everything out of the house, which freed up for 
more personal items.  
 
Board Member Descamps stated he was glad that they did not hold that against 
them and thanked Mr. Flanigan. 
 
(Dan Flanigan and Board Member Descamps laughed) 
 
Board Member Becher stated she noticed that they have a really nice brick paver 
driveway and in going through their paperwork she sees the size of the garage that 
they want and this was a single story garage, correct? 
 
Dan Flanigan stated that is correct.  
 
Board Member Becher thanked Mr. Flanigan and stated that she does not have any 
further questions and asked if any other Board Members had any questions?  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated that she believes that Board Member S. Brasza had 
a question. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated yes please and asked the petitioner that he is re-
placing a 10’ x 16’ shed for a garage; she asked the petitioner to provide a hardship. 
 
Dan Flanigan stated the hardship is that they were using the shed for storage as he 
mentioned for lawn equipment, patio furniture, snow removal equipment, because 
they were unable to put everything into the shed because they had taken it down in 
May, they were unable to park their cars in the garage and that was kind of what 
they were hoping to do, is utilize the new garage to put their vehicles in for the winter 
time so they are not dealing with all of that snow removal of the cars every morning, 
especially these past couple of winters that they have had. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza asked that they have an attached garage was that cor-
rect?  
 
Dan Flanigan stated they do. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza said he is stating that they are going to be putting their 
cars into the new garage? 
 
Dan Flanigan stated correct. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 5 

 

Board Member S. Brasza asked then what will be going into their … 
 
Dan Flanigan stated they will probably use the attached garage as their storage for 
their patio furniture because they were not planning on putting a shed back in where 
that location is at.  They could go either way. 
 
Janet Flanigan stated just lawn equipment. 
 
Dan Flanigan stated right, that was kind of his game plan was to get the new garage 
built, that would be the storage for their vehicles but they could go either way; they 
could put their vehicles in the attached garage. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza thanked the petitioner. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated if there were no further questions by the Board, he 
would like to make the motion. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member Descamps made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
Construct a second garage (24’x 26’ = 624 sq. ft) with an existing attached garage 
of 544.8 sq. ft. for a total of 1168.8 sq. ft. of accessory buildings; with the Condi-
tion that there would not be storage of work equipment in there. 
 
Reason being: Not a detriment to the area, needs approval of the Board and due to 
the size and shape of the lot. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza supported the motion. 
 
Dan Flanigan stated there will not. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Descamps 
and Support to the motion by Board Member H. Brasza to grant the petitioner’s re-
quest due to it being not a detriment to the area, needs approval of the Board and 
she would include the Size and Shape of the lot. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated he meant to include that. (It was included in the 
initial motion). 
 
Roll Call: 
A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member Descamps   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion, but 

she also wants it noted that the existing garage 

on the plan is 22.7’ x 34.8’; it was not 22.7’x24’. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 6 

 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

 

The petitioner’s request was GRANTED. 
 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT: Our Lady of Redemption Church 

REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Ghassan Khalil 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  29293 Lorraine Ave. 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-10-376-004 
ZONE:     R-3 and R-1-C 
 
VARIANCES REQUESTED: Permission to 
Conduct a Church festival as follows: 
Saturday August 15, 2015 3:00 p.m.  to  10:00 p.m. 
Sunday August 16, 2015 1:00 p.m.  to    9:00 p.m. 
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 4.35: Festivals require the approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Ghassan Khalil, appeared before the Board and stated that he resides in Farmington 
Hills and he was present tonight to represent the Our Lady of Redemption Church, 
located at 29293 Lorraine Avenue.  They are present to request permission to con-
duct a festival on the two days—the 15th and 16th of August at the times that were 
stated from 3:00pm to 10:00pm on Saturday and from 1:00pm to 9:00pm on Sunday.  
Their festival consists mainly of food booth; they have about six or seven food 
booths within large tents, music, arts and crafts and games for the children.  This 
was a repeat of last year. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Furgal stated this is a public hearing and anyone in the audience 
wishing to speak on this matter to approach the podium.  Hearing and seeing none, 
she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Secretary Nestorowicz stated he just has one question, because he knows last year 
they had a three-day festival in September, was this taking its place or? 
 
Ghassan Khalil stated no, they had two days last year and it was in July.  When they 
submitted the application the first time, they made an error, they want to change it to 
be back and they did have it for two days in July. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated if there were no further discussions, she would like 
to make a motion. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 7 

 

Motion: 
Board Member S. Brasza made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to:  
Conduct a Church festival as follows: 
Saturday August 15, 2015 3:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. 
Sunday August 16, 2015 1:00 p.m. to   9:00 p.m. 
 

Reason being: Not self-imposed, not a detriment to the area, and needs approval 
of the Board. 
 
Board Member Vigus supported the motion.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there was a motion by Board Member S. Brasza 
and support by Board Member Vigus, to grant the petitioner’s request due to it not 
being self-imposed, and needs approval of the board. 
 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Descamps Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion.  

 

The petitioner’s request was GRANTED. 
 
 

8. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT:  Warren Woods Tower Booster  
              Club 

REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Norbert Coles 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  13400 Twelve Mile Road 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-14-226-013 
ZONE:     R-1-C 
 
VARIANCES REQUESTED: Permission to 
Conduct annual spring fair on the parking lot from as per the plan:  
Friday, May 15, 2015, TO Sunday May 17, 2015, as follows: 
May 15, 2015 -Friday 4 p.m. to 11 p.m. 
May 16, 2015 -Saturday noon to 11 p.m. 
May 17, 2015 -Sunday noon to 10 p.m. 
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 4.35: Fairs require the approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 8 

 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated to the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Norbert Coles, 29519 Norma, Warren, appeared before the Board. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked Mr. Coles the reason for his petition. 
 
Norbert Coles stated to conduct their annual fair for the Warren Woods Tower 
Booster Club.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal thanked Mr. Coles and stated this is a public hearing and 
anyone in the audience wishing to speak on this matter to approach the podium.  
Hearing and seeing none, she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member Pauta asked Mr. Coles if he had a problem with on Friday and Sat-
urday night ending their music at 10:00p.m. instead of 11:00p.m.  
 
Norbert Coles stated no, but may he ask why. 
 
Board Member Pauta stated that they have been doing it in the past because the 
neighbors get upset when there is loud music playing. 
 
Norbert Coles stated he knows last year when they had to move due to construction 
over to the high school, they had cut the hours down; normally over at that other lo-
cation they have maintained it, but they cut the music out at 10:00p.m.  That was the 
reason he requested 11:00p.m. 
 
Board Member Pauta stated she will see what the other Board Members decide. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated just to expand on what Board Member Pauta was 
stating.  They do not mind them staying open until 11:00p.m. but they would just 
have them turn the music off at 10:00p.m.   
 
Norbert Coles stated correct. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay, he is fine with that.  
 
Norbert Coles stated yes. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated if there were no further discussion, he would like to 
make the motion.  
 

Motion: 
Board Member Descamps made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to:  
Conduct annual spring fair on the parking lot from as per the plan:  
Friday, May 15, 2015, TO Sunday May 17, 2015, as follows: 
May 15, 2015 -Friday 4 p.m. to 11 p.m. 
May 16, 2015 -Saturday noon to 11 p.m. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 9 

 

May 17, 2015 -Sunday noon to 10 p.m. 
With the Condition that the music is to be turned off at 10:00 p.m. each night. 
 

Reason being: Needs approval of the Board, Not a detriment to the area, and due 
to the size and shape of the lot. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza supported the motion.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Descamps 
and Support by Board Member H. Brasza, to grant the petitioner’s request as stat-
ed, because it needs the approval of the Board, not detrimental to the area and 
due to the size and shape of the lot. 
 
 
 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion.  

 

The petitioner’s request was GRANTED. 
 

 
9. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT:  Patrick E. Sulaka /  

  Mr. Harold Sullivan, Owner 
REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Patrick E. Sulaka 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  2300 Ten Mile Road 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-30-126-008 
ZONE:     M-2 

 
VARIANCES REQUESTED:  Permission to 
1. Operate a seasonal outdoor sales operation from June 7, 2015 through June 6, 

2016. 
2. To waive 123 required off-street parking spaces required in conjunction with the 

outdoor sales operation.  
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 4.32 Paragraph (h) item (22): One (1) parking space required for each one 
hundred and fifty (150) sq. ft. of building and outdoor sales combined. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 10 

 

Section 4.52 Paragraph (d):  No sales activity or display of merchandise shall be 
permitted in the area designated for required off-street parking for the existing or 
temporary use. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Patrick Sulaka, Warren, MI, appeared before the Boar and stated he is present to-
night, applying for outside sales and he is asking for a variance from the ZBA due to 
the size and shape of the lot; he cannot fit as many cars as supposed to be on for 
outside sales on the lot. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal thanked Mr. Sulaka and stated that this was a public hear-
ing and if anyone in the audience wishing to speak on this matter.  Hearing and see-
ing none, she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member Pauta asked Mr. Sulaka what time he would be selling these vehi-
cles. 
 
Patrick Sulaka asked what time?  
 
Board Member Pauta stated yes. 
 
Patrick Sulaka stated in the morning it would be from 7:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. in the 
afternoon, on Fridays from 11:00 a.m. until about 4:00 p.m. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza asked if the sales area has been the same as it has been 
in the previous years; he is not changing any of that? 
 
Patrick Sulaka stated yes, nothing changed. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza stated that is all the same.  He asked if any other Board 
Members had anything. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member H. Brasza made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
1. Operate a seasonal outdoor sales operation from June 7, 2015 through June 

6, 2016. 
2. To waive 123 required off-street parking spaces required in conjunction with the 

outdoor sales operation.  
 

Reason being: Due to size and shape of the lot and needs approval of the Board. 
 
Board Member Becher supported the motion.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member H. Brasza and 
Support by Board Member Becher to grant the petitioner’s request as stated, due 
to the size and shape of the lot and needs approval of the Board. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 11 

 

 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion.  

 

The petitioner’s request has been GRANTED. 
 
 
 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT:  Art Van Furniture-USE- 
 REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Alan Crill 
 COMMON DESCRIPTION:  13855 Eight Mile Road 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-36-351-010 
ZONE:     C-2 & P 
 
VARIANCES REQUESTED: Permission to-USE- 
1. Conduct one (1) OUTDOOR “TENT” SALE OPERATIONS in an area 40’X60’, 

(2,400 sq. ft.), in front parking area of the store, as per plan, from May 7 through 
May 18, 2015, store house and July 30 through August 17, 2015. 

2. To waive Thirty-two (32) parking spaces (16 for the sale and 16 for the spaces 
that the tent occupies) in the front parking lot of the store in order to operate the 
outdoor “tent” sales operation. 

ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 16.02 Uses permitted in P Parking Districts, Paragraph (a): Parking ar-
eas shall be used for parking of private passenger vehicles only. 
Section 4.32 Paragraph (h) Item 22: One (1) parking space required for each 150 
square feet of floor space and outdoor sales areas combined. 
Section 4.52 Paragraph (d): No sales activity or display of merchandise shall be 
permitted in the area designated for required off-street parking for the existing or 
temporary use. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Alan Crill, appeared before the Board and stated he resides in Centerline, represent-
ing Art Van Furniture, 13855 E. Eight Mile. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 12 

 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked for the reason of his petition. 
 
Alan Crill stated they would like to conduct their semi-annual tent sale running from 
May 7th, 2015 through May 18th, 2015 that was one sale and the secondary sale, 
which would be July 30th through August 17th, 2015. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal thanked Mr. Crill and stated this was public hearing and 
anyone in the audience wishing to speak on this matter to approach the podium.  
Hearing and seeing none, she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member Becher stated this was identical to the same thing they did last year 
because the dates were setup for this year. 
 
Alan Crill stated correct, yes. 
 
Board Member Becher asked if any other Board Members had any questions. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member Becher made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
1. Conduct OUTDOOR “TENT” SALE OPERATIONS in an area 40’X60’, (2,400 

sq. ft.), in front parking area of the store, as per plan, from May 7 through May 
18, 2015, and July 30 through August 17, 2015. 

2. To waive Thirty-two (32) parking spaces (16 for the sale and 16 for the spaces 
that the tent occupies) in the front parking lot of the store in order to operate the 
outdoor “tent” sales operation. 

 

Reason being: Due to the size and shape of the lot and needs approval of the 
Board. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Becher and 
Support by Board Member S. Brasza, to grant the petitioner’s request, due to size 
and shape of the lot and needs approval of the Board. 
 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion.  

 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 13 

 

The petitioner’s request was GRANTED. 
 
 

11. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT:  Ceratizit USA 
 REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Michael Stephens 

COMMON DESCRIPTION:  11530 Stephens Drive 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-27-426-030 
ZONE:     M-2 
 
VARIANCES REQUESTED: Permission to 
Install three (3) wall signs as follows: 
1. One (1) sign 112” x 144” = 112 sq. ft. on the silo tower as per the plan. 
2. Two (2) awning signs 2’x 3’ = 6 sq. ft. each (12 sq. ft.) as per the plan. 
TOTAL OF 124 sq. ft. of wall signage. 
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 4A.35 (c): Total wall signage of a size not to exceed forty (40) sq. ft. shall 
be allowed for each business in C-1, C-2, C-3, M-1 and M-2. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Michael Stephens, 11530 Stephens Drive, appeared before the Board and stated he 
is with Signarama in Troy, representing Ceratizit. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman asked Mr. Stephens the reason for his petition. 
 
Michael Stephens stated they are petitioning to maintain an existing non-led wall 
sign for identification purposes.  That is the large sign that is on the tower in addition 
to two (2) pre-existing awnings that were onsite that were rescanned with the new 
graphics in compliance with the color scheme of Ceratizit.   
 
Vice-Chairwoman thanked Mr. Stephens and asked him if this was due to lack of 
identification? 
 
Michael Stephens stated yes; multiple reasons and actually that large sign on the 
tower was part of the original construction plans when they had purchased the build-
ing.  It was something that they were intending on doing back then and the same 
thing for the awning sign as well.  The existing company that was there had their 
identification on there and it was a blue and white awning and it was changed to 
match the Ceratizit Logo yes.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman stated that this was a public hearing and if there was anyone in 
the audience that would like to comment on this matter.  Hearing and seeing none, 
she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member Descamps to the petitioner stated the sign actually looked very nice 
on the awning and he thinks because the building sits sideways in the parking area, 
they are not visible from the street very often, are they?  



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 14 

 

 
Michael Stephens stated correct, just when travelling east bound off Stephens, yes. 
 
Board Member Descamps asked if any other Board Members had any questions be-
fore he made his motion. 
 
Board Member Vigus asked Board Member Descamps if she could interrupt; she 
just has a question. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay. 
 
Board Member Vigus to the petitioner stated she just needs clarification.  Part of his 
petition states that he wants to retain wall signage and then the other part of it states 
he wants to install three (3) wall signs, is he?  
 
Michael Stephens stated all three (3) of those signs are actually up.  The additional 
ground sign is there too, but he was asked to identify all of the signage that was on 
the property.  The two (2) awnings are currently up, in addition to the sign that was 
on the tower.  
 
Board Member Vigus stated the ground sign though is the one he wants to retain, 
the other three (3), the awnings and then the silo are the ones that he wants to re-
place?  
 
Michael Stephens stated they already exist.  The sign on the tower has been there 
for three to four years and the awnings signage was about that time probably too 
maybe a little bit less than that. 
 
Board Member Vigus stated so they have already done the work on those signs and 
they are asking the Board now to say it was okay that they are there. 
 
Michael Stephens stated correct, yes. 
 
Board Member Vigus stated in addition to that ground sign. 
 
Michael Stephens stated the ground sign was actually permitted and approved a few 
years ago.   
 
Board Member Vigus stated so he wanted to retain some work he has already done. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated they were asking for forgiveness not permission.  
He kind of knew that.  He stated to the petitioner to tell them that next time not so 
nice.  Carrying on, he would like to make his motion. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member Descamps made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
Install three (3) wall signs as follows: 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 15 

 

1. One (1) sign 112” x 144” = 112 sq. ft. (He stated that was not exactly the way it 
should read) on the silo tower as per the plan. 

2. Two (2) awning signs 2’x 3’ = 6 sq. ft. each (12 sq. ft.) as per the plan. 
TOTAL OF 124 sq. ft. of wall signage. 
 

Reason being: Due to lack of identification, size and shape of the lot, needs ap-
proval of the Board and not a detriment to the area. 
 
Board Member Becher supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Descamps 
and Support by Board Member Becher, to grant the petitioner’s request, due to 
lack of identification, needs approval of the board and not a detriment to the area.  
He did misstate that it was a 128 sq. ft.; it should be a 124 sq. ft.  
 
Board Member Descamps stated that his eyes were still dilated from that after-
noon. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated he was forgiven (softly laughing). 
 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion.  

      He is forgiven. 

 
The petitioner’s request was GRANTED. 

 
 
12. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT:  Menard, Inc.-USE- 

REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Thomas O’Neil 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  32501 Van Dyke 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-04-226-024 & 13-04-226-012 
ZONE:     M-2 and M-1 

 
VARIANCES REQUESTED:  Permission to-USE- 
1. Allow an above ground propane tank on a property with two (2) zones M-1 & M-2. 
2. Waive seven (7) additional parking spaces for the tank. Total parking waived 80 

+ 137 + 7 = 224 spaces. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 16 

 

3. Allow the above ground tank to no less than 120’ of the south property line as per 
the plan. 

ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 17.02 (p): Above ground storage tanks are not permitted in M-1 or M-2.  
Where allowed they shall be located not less than one hundred fifty (150) feet from 
property lines. 
Section 4.32 Item (22): All retail stores…One (1) parking space for each one hun-
dred fifty (150) square feet of floor space. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Tom O’Neil, Menard, Inc. 5101 Menard Drive, Eau Claire, WI 54703, appeared be-
fore the Board. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked Mr. O’Neil for the reason of his petition. 
 
Tom O’Neil stated they are requesting three (3) variances tonight.  One is the use 
variance for the propane fueling station in M-1, M-2 district rather than the permitted 
district.  They are also looking for a setback variance as well as the loss of seven (7) 
parking spaces associated with the propane fueling station.  If the Board recalls, 
they appeared before the Board once before and at that time it had just been 
brought to their attention that they had, he had omitted or failed to obtain these vari-
ances for the propane fueling station.  This is a newer merchandizing concept for 
them and it was missed as far as their; they did it in the middle of construction and 
he apologizes for that and he would appreciate the Board granting the variances.  
They believe that it is not detrimental to the area, it is based on the size and shape 
and figuration of the lot because of the setback to the adjacent property and they do 
not think it will have any detriment to their neighbors and they think it would be a 
value to the area and he would appreciate their support.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated this was a public hearing and if there was anyone in 
the audience that would like to comment on this matter to approach the podium.  
Hearing and seeing none, she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked Mr. O’Neil if they have some kind of fencing around 
the whole tank area or? 
 
Tom O’Neil stated yes, it was partially fenced.  It is housed with a fence around it 
and it is only operated by trained personnel from their store.  Their guests are not 
allowed to utilize it themselves, it is not self fueling. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated so they would fill up the tanks themselves and give 
them to the… 
 
Tom O’Neil stated that was correct. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 17 

 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated and they have some trees next to that too? She 
sees some trees, is that…? 
 
Tom O’Neil stated there is an island that is next to it, yes. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated the island is next to it, okay.  She asked what about 
those parking spaces that back into it or that are next to it, were those well protect-
ed?  Is there cement blocks or something?  
 
Tom O’Neil stated there were no cement blocks or any type of race curb service, but 
they have reserved enough room with the stripping for the propane fueling station 
and the stacking area.  They think there was more than ample room from that stand-
point; they did not cut that too slim or too thin in their estimation. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated she was just concerned because there are five 
spaces that are right next to it that looks like might cause them some problems.  
Those were all her questions.  
 
Board Member Becher stated they have this propane filling station right next to their 
driveway coming in; the only driveway that goes into the store.  They have all of this 
property.  Customers are not going to be picking their tanks up from there; their only 
purpose is to fill the tank so that it is ready for a customer there.  She cannot imag-
ine why it has to be right on the main drag going into the store, when they have all 
the property behind the store and on both sides of the store and even further from 
the entrance on the other side when the only people are that supposed to be using 
this area are employees.  She really thinks they should find someplace else to put it; 
she just does not think it is a good place to put it there. 
 
 
 
 
Tom O’Neil stated the reason that has been provided to him that that has been the 
chosen location is that when guests arrive with their vehicles at that location, they 
want them to be visible for store personnel from the store from the front desk area 
from the return counter so they could visually see those guests that are arriving at 
that area and service them as quickly as possible.  If they were to remove that area 
further back into the parking lot or to another location within the lot, then that ability 
to see and visually locate the guest would require people to stay there in that loca-
tion all the longer. 
 
Board Member Becher stated that she just thinks it was an accident waiting to hap-
pen. 
 
Tom O’Neil stated okay. 
 
Board Member Pauta to Mr. O’Neil stated this is the second time that he has been 
before the Board asking for variances for Menards.  Was there any other issues or 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 18 

 

changes that are occurring that need to go to planning first before they come back a 
third time. 
 
Tom O’Neil stated he does not believe so. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated he is assuming this was another seeking for-
giveness.  He asked Mr. O’Neil if they had built it yet. 
 
Tom O’Neil stated no. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay, he could understand the need for security 
and visually looking at the thing for his guests.  He asked if there was a way—
because a lot of people are concerned and so is he—if they could put cement poles 
around it; the posts just to keep….he thinks doing that and he has seen that on a lot 
of other areas that do provide propane, that if they put the cement posts, four (4) of 
them, just around might help. 
 
Tom O’Neil stated certainly they could protect that and place some other types of 
barriers that would help protect car tires from the proximity to that; yes. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated he understands they cannot always 100% keep 
someone from hitting it, but the idea is to limit their exposure. 
 
Tom O’Neil stated it makes sense and this was an evolutionary process for them.  
As he indicated this was not something they had historically at other Menard’s 
stores, so frankly they are learning a bit as they go as well. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay and if they were willing to do that he thinks 
that the Board would be more willing to let this go there as long as they are able to 
put some type of security. 
 
Tim O’Neil stated certainly they will protect it from all of the perspectives and ensure 
that there is some fencing out to protect both the guests and other passerby’s. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated the propane filling area, are they literally having a 
person bring in a tank and they are filling it at that point?  
 
Tim O’Neil stated yes. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza asked is that then an area that has a retail register of 
some type or will they still need to go back into the store?  
 
Tim O’Neil stated no; the point of sale is in the store itself. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated in lieu of that, why is there not a chance to possibly 
go to the north end of the facility verses the south end?  Because literally, a person 
is going to come in with an empty tank saying he needs that filled…what is the…she 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 19 

 

knows he was saying visualizing somebody; are they literally going to have someone 
watching that a car pulls up and says there is a guy that needs a tank filled?  
 
Tim O’Neil stated that is certainly part of the responsibilities of the people at the front 
entrance desk, yes; guest services. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated and so if they go to the north end, where is the 
problem?  
 
Tim O’Neil stated he does not know the answer to that.  This is a little bit of an evolu-
tionary process, so these are… 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated she means they have an entrance into the facility 
from the north end. 
 
Tim O’Neil stated true and he thinks the people that are trained, there is only a cer-
tain select amount of people within the store that are trained to dispense, that are 
given the certification by their suppliers, by their providers and so, he thinks it is a 
question of those people being located at the right location to do this. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated and they are at the registers? 
 
Tim O’Neil stated the people that are supposed to be doing this are the ones that are 
going to be located at that portion of the store. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated she was having difficulties with this.  She will hear 
from the rest of the Board. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza asked if they will be also servicing like people with RVs or 
other types of equipment that have the need to have their propane filled, that not just 
the people coming in with their things from their Barbeque but also the rest of the 
tanks. 
 
Tim O’Neil stated that is correct.  This would be capable of filling larger cylinders not 
just grill type propane tanks. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza stated that to himself then that makes it more of a concern 
to be in that area because if they are going to have a large RV or those types of 
things in that single traffic lane that they have going to the main entrance/exit for the 
facility, it just seems to be a congestion waiting to happen and he is wondering if it 
might be better served if they could identify some alternative locations, to go back, 
and he does not know how easily they could reschedule, because he assumes they 
are getting close to opening time, but if they could identify some alternative locations 
to be able to come before the Board and say here are some things and taking their 
feedback… 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated this was actually holding up the site plan 
approval.  He has site plan approval but they would not release it for building permits 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 20 

 

for the warehouse addition and the mezzanines, so right now construction is not go-
ing on, because they will not give them the building permits.  This is on a site plan 
through planning; it is all set with them.  If they get the variances they will be able to 
release the plans to the building department and they will be able to give them their 
building permits to continue with the work. 
 
Board Member Descamps to Ms. Martin stating that planning has already approved 
this?  
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated Planning is just sitting and waiting for the 
variances.  
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay, could they stipulate that they do put in the 
poles to surround it or some other type of safety measured before they approve it.  
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated she is sure that could be a condition; ask 
the City Attorney. 
 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney stated yes. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza asked for an interpretation from the City Attorney. Does it 
have to be in that location if they approve it tonight?  
 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney stated they would have to then amend their site 
plan because that is where it is located on their site plan.  
 
Board Member H. Brasza asked but then they would not need to come back before 
the Board for another variance if they moved it around? 
 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney stated that is correct, they would have to then 
she believes amend their site plan and go through planning. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated they would have to do an amendment to 
the site plan that has already been approved and waiting for these variances.  They 
would have to go back for site plan approval again on amendment. 
 
 
 
(Board Members comments inaudible) 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated he would have to submit plans without 
the propane and they chose not to do that; they wanted to see if they could get the 
variances and then continue, but Planning has already approved this plan it was just 
waiting for the variances.  It would have come before the Board March 11, 2015 but 
it was too late to get it re-noticed when they found the propane tank. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza stated his personal opinion is if they are willing to put in 
the posts, he is okay with it, but he is only speaking from his personal opinion. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 21 

 

 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated she agrees with Board Member H. Brasza and 
Board Member Descamps, her concern really was that they could literally run into it 
with a car. 
 
Secretary Nestorowicz stated and personally that was actually the only based con-
cern he had because when he looked at this he does not have a problem with the 
location and he knows that some of his fellow Board Members did not like the loca-
tion; he can see keeping it where it is, but he kept on looking at those parking spac-
es to the north of it and he could just picture someone backing out of their space and 
worry that they could back into the propane tank and that is why if there was protec-
tion around it, he would not have a problem even if he had said they put protection 
and had to come back later on asking for another parking space taken out because 
of the protection, he would be fine even with that, but he would just like to have a 
condition of something around that to stop cars from hitting it. 
 
Tim O’Neil stated they would certainly be amenable to a condition of approval that it 
be bollards or protected from a safety standpoint, absolutely. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated in the drawing, she does not have any indication of 
size of this area; it looks almost ‘L’ shaped… 
 
Tim O’Neil stated it is about seven (7) parking spaces, so that would make it about 
1,400 sq. ft.  The parking spaces are 10’ x 20’, so in total it would be about 1,400 sq. 
ft. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated so they are talking more than just four bollards on 
this?  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated more than four bollards. 
 
Tim O’Neil stated correct, and to excuse his comment, it would certainly to the 
Board’s pleasure as far as how many bollards but he thinks it is just more of a ques-
tion of making sure that it is all completely protected.  He thinks it is going to take 
more than four bollards. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated okay, and thanked Mr. O’Neil. 
 
 
 
Board Member Descamps stated he thinks they all agree that it needs to have the 
cement posts around it and asked Mr. O’Neil if he was thinking about six or so? 
 
Tim O’Neil stated he thinks at a minimum. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated minimum of six maybe eight. 
 
Board Member Becher stated about maybe one every three feet. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 22 

 

 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated no. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated they would still need to get in and out of there.  He 
asked if Board Member Vigus had a question. 
 
Board Member Vigus stated she was just wondering if maybe in addition to the bol-
lards if maybe doing some sort of bumper curb, some sort of curb block at the end of 
those parking spaces.  If they are concerned about someone accidently driving for-
ward or reversing backwards out of that spot, are they going to put a bollard at each 
parking spot and maybe a curb block might help to the front and bollard protect on 
the sides. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated certainly the curb block in front would stop cars 
from backing up into it and it is probably a little easier to put those in than the posts, 
but he thinks the posts need to be there also. 
 
Board Member Vigus stated she was actually still thinking both; she means they 
would have to bollard protected the outside of it as well. 
 
Board Member Descamps asked Mr. O’Neil if he had a problem with that. 
 
Tim O’Neil stated no sir. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated okay, alright good. If there were no further ques-
tions, he would like to go ahead with his motion. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member Descamps made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
1. Allow an above ground propane tank on a property with two zones M-1 & M-2. 
2. Waive seven additional parking spaces for the tank. Total parking waived 80 + 

137 + 7 = 224 spaces. 
3. Allow the above ground tank to no less than 120’ of the south property line as 

per the plan.  
With the stipulation that the petitioner puts in a minimum six (6) cement pillars 
(bollards) and ground cement piers to stop cars. 
 

Reason being: Due to the size and shape of the lot, not a detriment to the area, 
and needs approval of the Board. 
 
Board Member Vigus supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Descamps 
and Support by Board Member Vigus, to grant the petitioner’s request as stated 
with the stipulation that there be a minimum of six (6) cement pillars or bollards 
around the propane tanks and that parking blocks be added to the parking spaces 
that run right into it. Due to it being not a detriment to the area, and needs approval 
of the Board. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 23 

 

 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (7-1). 

 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion;  

      reluctantly. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  No, she thinks it is a detriment to the area and  

      a self-imposed hardship. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion, and  

      because he was willing to compromise.  

 

The petitioner’s request was GRANTED. 
 
 

13. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT: Ms. Fatima Bajrektarevic-USE- 
REPRESENTATIVE  Mr. Mike Smith / Ms. Fatima Bajrektarevic 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  23366 Hoover Road 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-26-351-005 
ZONE:     M-1 & P-1-P 

 
VARIANCES REQUESTED:  Permission to-USE- 
Continue an existing non-conforming residential dwelling in an M-1 District therefore 
becoming conforming.  
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 17.02 Industrial Standards (e): Residential dwelling are not permitted. 
Section 4.17 Paragraph (a): Non-conforming Use-Continuance. Any lawful non-
confirming use consisting of a building or land usage existing at the time of the effec-
tive date of this Ordinance may be continued, except as herein prohibited or restrict-
ed, provided that the building or use thereof shall not be structurally changed, al-
tered or enlarged, unless such altered or enlarged building or use shall conform to 
the provisions of this Ordinance for the district in which it is located. 
Section 4.17 Paragraph (b): Non-conforming Use-Restoration: Nothing in this 
ordinance shall prevent the restoration, repairing, or rebuilding of any non-
conforming building or structure damaged to the extent of sixty (60) percent or less 
of its valuation by fire, explosion, act of God or any ace of the public enemy. 
Section 4.17 Paragraph (c): Non-conforming repair: Nothing in this Ordinance 
shall prevent the repair, reinforcement or reconstruction of an non-conforming build-
ing, structure or part thereof rendered necessary by wear and tear, deterioration and 
depreciation, provided the cost of such work shall not exceed thirty (30) percent of 
the valuation of such building or structure at the time such work is done.  
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 24 

 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individuals at the podium to state their name and 
address for the record. 
 
George Thomas, 25814 Jefferson, St. Claire Shores, MI appeared before the Board 
and stated he is in replace of Mike Smith who is out of town and he is representing 
Ms. Fatima Bajrektarevic. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked Ms. Thomas to state the reasons for his petition. 
 
George Thomas stated they are petitioning a single family residence from a non-
confirming use to a conforming use. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated no, they are requesting a continuation of an existing 
non-conforming use. 
 
George Thomas stated currently it is continuation of non-conforming use and the 
reason why they petitioned is that the owner Fatima had bought the property, reno-
vated it, pulled all of the necessary permits and sold it on the listing agent, that is 
why he is present tonight with Remax First and they had it sold, it was a mortgage 
buyer and it was flagged during underwriting because of the use and if the structure 
is damaged by Thirty Percent (30%) or more, it could not be rebuilt, so no mortgage 
lender will lend on the property for that reason, so that was why they are petitioning. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated okay and thanked Mr. Thomas and called on Lynn 
Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated yes, if the Board grants the variance than 
it would be able to be rebuilt as a single family without any conditions on it.  That 
whole strip of land of the property along Hoover there on that east side of the street 
was M-1 and they are all houses; they have been for years and she just wants to be 
able to sell it and someone buy it and if it is destroyed by a fire or anything like that, 
it can be rebuilt without having to come before the Zoning Board, it would already be 
buildable as a single family. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal thanked Ms. Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector and stated this 
is a public hearing and if there was anyone in the audience wishing to comment on 
this matter, to approach the podium.  Hearing and seeing none, she turned the mat-
ter over to the Board. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated she had one question of the City Attorney.  She 
asked if this was the proper way to state this. 
 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney called on Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector.  
She asked Ms. Martin if Legal Forming more proper way? 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated right now it is legal non-conforming resi-
dential house in an M-1 Zone, in order to have a residential there, it is a use-



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 25 

 

variance and if the Board grants it, then it will lose its non-conforming status and it 
becomes a legal residential in that zone. 
 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney stated it would become the legal conforming sta-
tus. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated correct. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated okay, because she thinks the non-conforming needs 
to go away.  
 
Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney stated to Vice-Chairwoman Furgal that she was 
correct.  Just leave conforming, legal conforming and remove the ‘none’. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked if this was properly noticed, because they are es-
sentially rezoning this property. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated no, they are not rezoning. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked they are not?  
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated no.  It was still going to remain M-1, but 
this house is going to be legally placed there. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated it would no longer be considered non-conforming. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated correct. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated okay; she will be quiet now and if any other Board 
Members wished to comment, to go ahead. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated as long as no one else had any questions in re-
gards to this petition, he thinks what the Board is doing is correct at this point and he 
would like to make his motion. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member Descamps made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
Continue an existing non-conforming residential dwelling in an M-1 District there-
fore becomes conforming. 
 

Reason being: Not a detriment to the area, size and shape of the lot, and needs 
approval of the Board. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Descamps 
and Support by Board Member H. Brasza, to grant the petitioner’s request as stat-
ed; due to needs approval of the Board and not a detriment to the area. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 26 

 

 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion;  

      however, she thinks that the terminology  

      should say ‘allow them to have a legal con 

      forming single family residential property at an  

      M-1 District’ not to continue a non-conforming  

      one at this time. 

Board Member Descamps stated she is probably correct in that, but in reading into 

the whole thing by approving to non-conforming, the other part goes away. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion;  

      Now they can sell her house. 

 

The petitioner’s request has been GRANTED. 
 
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT:  Montana Homes 
 REPRESENTATIVE:   Mr. Angelo Sbrocca  

COMMON DESCRIPTION:  8320 Thirteen Mile Road 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-10-102-008 
ZONE:     R-3 

 
VARIANCES REQUESTED:  Permission to 
1. (a): To allow the construction of four (4) units (1-story) multi-family dwellings, 

187.42’ long, twelve (12) feet from the east side property line and twenty seven 
(27) feet from the front property line. 
(b): One (1) 2 units (1-story) multi-family dwellings, 94’ long, twelve (12) feet from 
the west side property line with a detention pond to the north. 

2. To allow hard surfacing for maneuvering purposes to no less than 8’ of the south 
property line with a berm and plantings along the south property line. 

3. To build six (6) 1-story, 2 bedroom, multifamily dwellings on 48,599 sq. ft. of land. 
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 10.03:  Every lot in an R-3 District on which a multiple family dwelling is to 
be erected shall provide a minimum lot area of seventy-two hundred, (7,200) sq. ft. 
for the first living unit. 
Section 10.05:  Each lot on which a multiple dwelling is erected shall be provided 
with a side yard on each side of such lot. Each such side yard shall have a minimum 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 27 

 

width of fifteen (15) ft. which shall be increased by one-half (1/2) ft. for each (10) ft. 
or part thereof by which the length of the multiple dwelling exceeds fifty (50) ft. in 
overall dimensions along the adjoining lot line.  
Section 10.08: Each lot in an R-3 district shall have a rear yard depth of not less 
than thirty five (35) ft. for one (1) story building… 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state his name and 
address for the record. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca, 14124 Timberwyck Drive, Shelby charter Township, appeared be-
fore the Board.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked Mr. Sbrocca to state the reasons for his petition.  
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated they originally had it designed for colonials; there was a total 
of eleven (11); four (4) on the west side of the road and seven (7) on the east and 
they felt that ranches would be a good diversification for empty nesters in the area 
and to do that, they are reducing from eleven (11) to six (6) because a ranch obvi-
ously takes up more square footage, it is wider, so they felt to get the proper design 
they needed 3 more feet in the back to have it flow properly and to construct it at a 
good square foot of 1,460 sq ft.  
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal thanked Mr. Sbrocca and stated this is a public hearing 
and if anyone in the audience that would like to comment on this matter.  Hearing 
and seeing none, she turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member Descamps asked how long he has owned that property. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated quite a while; it has been about 20 years.  
 
Board Member Descamps stated yes, it has been sitting there vacant for a non-use 
for a long time. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated they started at and they put the road in, the infrastructures in 
and then things collapsed 2007 and they just kind of put it to sleep, but in over time 
they just felt that this would be the right way to go. 
 
Board Member Descamps stated so it is going to be put into good use now instead 
of just sitting there vacant. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated yes, yes, yes.  They are going to be very nice, they are going 
to do some nice.  They are going to do some nice ranches; two car garage, a little 
wider like 24’. In an email, there are nice mature trees there that he thinks are going 
to be a nice condo, small.  
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated she was fortune to be on Planning when he put this 
through the first time and she was able to see him put the…it looks like his drainage 
is all set, he has his streets set and that has been there for a while and she is so 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 28 

 

much more appreciative of the ranch style than what he was going for with those co-
lonials.  This is a great plan and she thanked Mr. Sbrocca. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated as he mentioned, he thought it would be perfect for empty 
nesters who wanted a quiet community and quality or else it would be for say young 
people, kids, it is just not that big, so he thinks the ranch is going to have less densi-
ty, less people and just the setting is right. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated it was still a quiet area; it is Warren Cons. Schools, 
great location. 
 
Board Member H. Brasza stated if no other Board Member had anything else to 
comment, he would like to make the motion.  
 
 

Motion: 
Board Member H. Brasza made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
1. a): To allow the construction of four (4) units (1-story) multi-family dwellings, 

187.42’ long, twelve (12) feet from the east side property line and twenty seven 
(27) feet from the front property line. 
(b): One (1) 2 units (1-story) multi-family dwellings, 94’ long, twelve (12) feet 
from the west side property line with a detention pond to the north. 

2. To allow hard surfacing for maneuvering purposes to no less than 8’ of the 
south property line with a berm and plantings along the south property line. 

3. To build six (6) 1-story, 2 bedroom, multifamily dwellings on 48,599 sq. ft. of 
land. 

(With the Condition that petitioner relinquishes his previous variances.) 
 

Reason being: Needs approval of the Board, size and shape of the lot, and not a 
detriment to the area. 
 
Board Member Descamps supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member H. Brasza and 
Support by Board Member Descamps, to grant the petitioner’s request as stated, 
due to size and shape of the lot, needs approval of the Board and not a detriment 
to the area. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector asked if the Board is going to ask the petition-
er if he would relinquish the prior variances. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked Mr. Sbrocca if he would like to volunteer to relin-
quish prior variances. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated he was not sure.  He had previous variances and he thinks 
that… 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 29 

 

Roxanne Canestrelli, City Attorney stated the variances that the Board in request-
ing him to relinquish is the variances that would go with his first site plan, with the 
colonials. 
 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated he thinks that would throw them off because they still have 
the front setbacks the same, the site setbacks are the same, so those variances 
that are granted, he is sure that he needs them because everything is really stay-
ing the same, the only thing that he is requesting is 3’ of that. 
 
(One of the Board Member’s voice, is inaudible) 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated the dimensions previously, the footprint of the buildings is 
virtually the same, the only thing they are requesting is 3’ deeper in the back, but 
actually the building that is on the west properly is going to be shorter, so it would 
be more of a greenbelt. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector (approached and explained) to Mr. Sbrocca if 
he keeps that previous variance, he could come in and actually use that variance.  
She thinks they asked for the front property line is 27’ okay, he has 12’ and here 
was 15’ from the sides; 15’ on the current one, where they were asking for 12’; so 
they are replacing that variance with this one. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated he sees it for the back, he understood. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated for the sides and the front.  Back, he 
has already asked for because they made him put in the 8’… 
 
Angelo Sbrocca asked Ms. Martin was the front not the same though. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated this one was actually 27’, now they are 
going to 25’, but this one is 27’ and the first one was 25’ but he is at 27’.  So he is 
back farther, so he does not need that 25’. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated he could be wrong, but he thinks that he needs it.  He 
thinks the only thing that the…this is the middle…needs the… 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector (pointing to the site plan) stated no he does 
not need to, not on this; (point to the site plan).  This was that, the front and the 
sites, this was what he got on the last one and now he is asking for different ones 
on this one.  
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated he sees what she is stating.  The sides would be different in 
the back but the front will stay the same. 
 
Lynn Martin, Chief Zoning Inspector stated correct. 
 
Angelo Sbrocca stated yes, yes, he was just unsure. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 30 

 

 
Board Member H. Brasza stated he would like to amend his motion to include the 
petitioner’s agreement to relinquish the existing variances. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated with the Condition of the relinquishment of previ-
ous variances. 
 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion; she  

      wished good luck to the petitioner because she 

      knows he waited a long time. 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

 

The petitioner’s request has been GRANTED. 
 
 

15. PUBLIC HEARING   APPLICANT: Joseph Tringale–Redskin Auto  
                Sales and RV Center 

 REPRESENTATIVE:   Susan E. Laske 
COMMON DESCRIPTION:  21000 Van Dyke 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  13-34-351-024 
ZONE:     C-2 

 
VARIANCES REQUESTED:  Permission to 
Petitioner seeks to install 3’ tall steel guard posts every 3’ along the front property 
line on Van Dyke Avenue, as per the plan. 
ORDINANCES and REQUIREMENTS: 
Section 4D.08: Fences, walls and landscape screens in front yard between building 
line and front property line. No fence, wall or landscape screen shall be constructed 
between the established building line and the front property line. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the individual at the podium to state her name and 
address for the record. 
 
Susan Laske, 21000 Van Dyke, Warren, MI; appeared before the Board. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal asked the reason for her petition. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 31 

 

Susan Laske stated due to recent thefts of automobiles from their lot on two different 
occasions, they are asking for posts to be installed on the east side of the berm that 
would be 3’ tall and 3’ apart along the entire berm to secure the lot and protect the 
pedestrians and motorists traveling down Van Dyke.  When the vehicles were stolen 
on the two different locations, they were hotwired.  The vehicles were pulled halfway 
down the lot and once they had them halfway down the lot, they flew over the berm 
and not having any regards to any pedestrians or motored vehicles coming down 
Van Dyke.  At the rate of speed that that went over the berm, someone could be se-
riously hurt or killed; they feel something must be done to protect their lot as well as 
the pedestrians and the motorists coming down Van Dyke. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated this is a public hearing, was there anyone in the au-
dience that would like to comment on this matter.  Hearing and seeing none, she 
turned the matter over to the Board. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated that she does not see any type of drawing and 
asked the petitioner to explain what the 3’ guard post, what it would look like.  
 
Susan Laske (demonstrating with her hands) stated this is the berm and there is a 
cement curb right here, the post would be on this side of the berm, they would be 3’ 
high and 3’ apart all the way across the front of the property line. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza asked what the dimension of the post is.  Is it a metal post, 
is it cement? 
 
Susan Laske stated yes, it is like a cement post.  Kind of what they were asking 
Menard to put in front of their propane tank, those types of bollards. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated like a bollard; okay and thanked Mrs. Laske. 
 
Joseph Tringale stated they are cement posts; it’s what they are.  
 
Board Member Becher stated she was looking at their drawing and they are going to 
put the posts on the parking lot, not in the berm, because their drawing looks like 
they are putting them in the green area. 
 
Susan Laske stated no.  Everett Murphy, Zoning Inspector had already told them 
that it could not be in the green area, it had to be on the east side of the berm, which 
would be on the building side of the berm, which would be on this side of the ce-
ment, not on this side. 
 
Board Member Becher asked so it would not be on the green space. 
 
Susan Laske stated that is correct. 
 
Board Member Becher stated okay and they are going to be 3’ high and they are go-
ing to be in the parking lot. 
 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 32 

 

Susan Laske stated that was correct. 
 
Board Member Becher asked if any other Board Members had any other questions.  
 
Board Member S. Brasza asked the driveway, what are they doing for the driveway 
then. 
 
Susan Laske stated the driveway; they put two trucks, to block the driveway so that 
they could not go through the driveway. 
 
Joseph Tringale stated almost every dealership locks their driveway with vehicles. 
 
Board Member S. Brasza stated super and thanked the applicant. 
 
Board Member Becher stated she had one other question.  Now that had been 
brought up, because she remembered seeing that when she looked at their place.  
She asked what does the Fire Department say about that, what would happen if the 
Fire Department had to come in during their closed hours and their drive was 
blocked like that.  Would they just push their trucks out of the way?  
 
Joseph Tringale stated they would have to do that. 
 
Susan Laske stated yes, she would believe so.  She means it would not be any dif-
ferent than if they had a gate there or chain there, they would still have to break 
through it in order to get into the area. 
 
Board Member Becher stated if no one else had any comments, she would like to 
make a motion. 
 

Motion: 
Board Member Becher made the motion to approve the petitioner’s request to: 
To install 3’ tall steel guard posts in the parking lot area, every 3’ along the front 
property line on Van Dyke Avenue, as per the plan. 
 

Reason being: Not a detriment to the area, size and shape of the lot, and needs 
approval of the Board. 
 
Secretary Nestorowicz supported the motion. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Furgal stated there is a motion by Board Member Becher and 
Support by Secretary Nestorowicz to grant the petitioner’s request as stated, due 
to size and shape of the lot, needs approval of the Board and not a detriment to the 
area. 
 
Roll Call: 

A roll call was taken on the motion to approve and the motion carried (8-0). 

 

Board Member Becher  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 



ZBA Minutes 4/22/15, Page 33 

 

Secretary Nestorowicz  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member S. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Pauta   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Vigus   Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member H. Brasza  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Board Member Descamps  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

Vice-Chairwoman Furgal  Yes, for the reasons stated in the motion. 

 

The petitioner’s request has been GRANTED. 
 
 

16. NEW BUSINESS 
 
No new business. 

 
17. ADJOURNMENT  
 

Motion: 
Secretary Nestorowicz made the motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 
Board Member Vigus supported the motion. 
 
Voice Vote:  
A voice vote was taken on the motion. The motion carried (8-0). 

 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:44 p.m. 

 
 
 
        ____________________ 
        Roman Nestorowicz 
        Secretary of the Board 
 


